#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

EDDY MARTEL (also known as MARTEL-RODRIGUEZ), MARY ANNE CAPILLA, JANICE JACKSON-WILLIAMS, and WHITNEY VAUGHAN on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

HG STAFFING, LLC, MEI-GSR HOLDINGS LLC d/b/a GRAND SIERRA RESORT

Defendants-Respondents.

Case No. 82161 Aug 11 2021 05:05 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

District Court Case No.: CV16-01264

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Mark R. Thierman, Nev. Bar No. 8285
Joshua D. Buck, Nev. Bar No. 12187
Leah L. Jones, Nev. Bar No. 13161
Joshua R. Hendrickson, Nev. Bar No. 12225
THIERMAN BUCK LLP
7287 Lakeside Drive
Reno, Nevada 89511

#### I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This Appeal is brought by Plaintiffs-Appellants employees who seek to enforce their rights to minimum wages, overtime wages, and continuation wages conferred by Nevada statutory law and the Nevada Constitution Minimum Wage Amendment. Unfortunately, the District Court's manifest misunderstanding of Nevada statutory wage and hour law has prevented these hourly-paid employees from receiving compensation for the hours they worked on behalf of and at the direction of their employer. Through two of its orders and one clarification, the District Court has been given three opportunities to provide relief to the employee Appellants, but instead has misinterpreted statutory law, made erroneous findings of fact that are not supported by the record, and made legally unsound rulings on novel issues of law that prevent the employees from seeking redress through the courts.

Consequently, Plaintiffs-Appellants appeal the following three (3) orders:

(1) The June 7, 2019, Order Granting, in Part, and Denying, in Part, Respondents' Motion to Dismiss. *See* Joint Appendix "JA" at Vol. 10, pp. 2013-2027, hereinafter "June 2019 Order." In the June 2019 Order, the Court held that a two-year statute of limitation applies to Appellants' Nevada Revised Statute ("NRS") 608.016, 608.018, and 608.020-.050 wage claims as opposed to the general three-year limitation period for statutory violations set forth in NRS 11.190(3)(a). (*Id.*, p. 2019.) Absent specific statutory direction to the contrary, NRS 11.190(3)(a)

provides a general three-year limitations period for "an action upon a liability created by statute." *See* NRS 11.1930(3)(a). The Nevada Legislature is perfectly capable of providing for a different statutory period where it wishes to limit a limitations period, as it did with NRS 608.250-260. But because the Legislature has not set forth specific statutory periods for NRS 608.016, 608.018, and/or 608.020-.050 claims, the general three-year statutory period must apply and the District Court's decision to the contrary should be reversed.

(2) The November 3, 2018, Order granting Respondents' Second Motion for Summary Judgment. See JA at Vol. 15, pp. 2945-2967, §B, hereinafter "November 2020 Order." In the November 2020 Order, the District Court committed three (3) reversible errors. First, The District Court concluded Plaintiff-Appellant Martel's (individually referred to hereinafter as "Appellant Martel") continuation wage claims were time barred by the inappropriately applied two-year limitations period. (Id. at pp. 2956-2957.) The District Court erred by concluding that Appellant Martel's continuation wage claims began to run on the last day that he performed work (id. at pp. 2957-2958), even though a claim for continuation wages brought pursuant to NRS 608.020-.050 does not fully accrue until 30-days after the employment relationship ended, which was within two years from the date of filing the complaint.

Second, the District Court held that Plaintiff-Appellant Jackson-Williams (individually referred to hereinafter as "Appellant Jackson-Williams") was not eligible for Nevada statutory overtime, because of the collective bargaining exception contained in NRS 608.018(e). See JA at Vol. 15, pp. 2945-2967, §B. The District Court erred by concluding that Appellant Jackson-Williams was not eligible for Nevada statutory overtime because (1) there was not an operable Culinary CBA during the relevant time period asserted in this case, and (2) even if a Culinary CBA was operable, the CBA does not "provide otherwise for overtime."

Third, the District Court held that Appellant Jackson-Williams could not represent a putative class of union and non-union employees for statutory wage violations based on a determination of law that "the union was the exclusive representative of union employees." (*Id.* at pp. 2964-2965.) This is also incorrect. Even if Appellant Jackson-Williams was a union employee during a portion of her employment, now as former employee, Appellant Jackson-Williams can represent union and non-union employees alike, without having to rely on the union to prosecute the claims. *Lucas v. Bechtel Corp.*, 633 F.2d 757, 759-60 (9th Cir. 1980) ("The individuals have sued to vindicate their uniquely personal rights to the wages

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> NRS 608.018(3)(e) contains two (2) conditions that the employer must meet in order to prove the exemption: (1) the employees must be covered by a valid and operable collective bargaining agreement, and (2) the collective bargaining agreement must "provide otherwise for overtime."

claimed under the allegedly breached agreements, not rights reserved to the union such as picketing, renegotiating a contract or protesting a plant relocation.").

(3) The District Court's June 21, 2021, Order clarifying the November 2020 Order as a final judgement granting summary judgment in favor of Defendants-Respondents on all non-overtime wage claims by all Plaintiffs-Appellants made additional puzzling determinations of law and fact. (*See* JA at Vol. 16, pp. 3125-3131, hereinafter "June 2021 Clarification"). In the 2021 Clarification, the District Court stated:

"The Court acknowledges eighteen (18) months of Ms. Jackson-Williams' claims were not time-barred. November Order, p. 15, ¶ 17. However, Ms. Jackson-Williams claims for Failure to Pay Overtime Wages in Violation of NRS 608.140 and 608.018 are barred because the Court found the CBA provided otherwise for overtime and wages. *November Order*, p. 19, ¶ 28. While the Court did find Ms. Jackson-Williams' could proceed without undertaking the grievance procedure of the CBA, the Court nevertheless found Ms. Jackson-Williams did not have standing to bring her claims because Plaintiffs did not prove the union as a bargaining agent breached its duty of fair representation in its representation of the employees, barring her claims. November Order, p. 21, ¶ 39. Accordingly, the Court found summary judgment appropriate in favor of Defendants and against each of Ms. Jackson-Williams' claims.

(*Id.* at pp. 3129-3130.) The June 2021 Clarification highlights the District Court's fundamental misunderstanding (and misapplication) of Nevada's wage-hour statutes. Even though the District Court acknowledged Appellant Jackson-

Williams' claims were not time barred, and that she was not required to file a grievance through the union, the District Court effectively barred Appellant Jackson-Williams individually (and on behalf of all Nevada union employees) from asserting any non-overtime statutory wage claims based upon a fictionalized "union exception." While there is a collective bargaining exception to the payment of statutory overtime under NRS 608.018(e) if certain conditions are met, there are no union exceptions to the payment of minimum wages or regular rate wages pursuant to the Nevada Minimum Wage Amendment and/or wages claims brought pursuant NRS Chapter 608.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs-Appellants submit that the District Court erred in numerous respects with regard to Appellants' wage claims asserted in this action.

#### II. <u>JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT</u>

Pursuant to Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP") 28(a)(4)(A) and (C) this Court has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) from the appealable determination of a final order of the Second Judicial District Court ("District Court") wherein the District Court granted summary judgment in favor of Defendants-Respondents and against Plaintiffs-Appellants' on all claims alleged. (See JA at Vol. 15, pp. 2945-2967, November 2020 Order; see also JA at Vol. 16, pp. 3125-3131, June 2021 Clarification.)

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(4)(B) Plaintiffs-Appellants' appeal is timely because Plaintiffs-Appellants first filed their notice of appeal of the District Court's November 3, 2020 Order granting summary judgment against Plaintiffs-Appellants and in favor of Defendants-Respondents on November 25, 2020. (JA at Vol. 15, pp. 2994-3037.) The notice of appeal was filed on December 4, 2020 by the District Court through electronic means by using the Court's eflex Electronic Notification System and pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1).

A briefing schedule was set, with Plaintiffs-Appellants' opening brief due April 21, 2021. However, Plaintiffs-Appellants sought leave from the Court to amend their docketing statement filed on December 17, 2020 as inaccurate because Plaintiffs-Appellants believed that certain claims of Appellant Jackson-Williams remained pending below. Thus, it appeared to Plaintiffs-Appellants that the challenged order was not appealable as a final judgment pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

On April 29, 2021, the Court issued an order to show cause why Plaintiffs-Appellants' appeal should not be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. Plaintiffs-Appellants filed their amended docketing statement on April 30, 2021 and timely filed their response to the Court's order to show cause on June 1, 2021 alerting the Court that Plaintiffs-Appellants had filed an expedited request for clarification from the District Court. On June 15, 2021, the Court construed Plaintiffs-Appellants'

response as a motion for an extension of time to respond, extending Plaintiffs-Appellants' response to July 15, 2021.

On June 21, 2021, the District Court clarified that its November 3, 2020, Order was a final judgement and order granting summary judgment in favor of Defendants-Respondents on all claims made by all Plaintiffs-Appellants. (JA at Vol. 16, pp. 3125-3131.) On June 22, 2021, Plaintiffs-Appellants filed their supplemental response to the Court's order to show cause attaching the District Court's clarified order and this Court reinstated the briefing schedule.

#### III. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is properly before the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12) because it involves questions of first impression and matters raising as principal issues questions of statewide importance to private employees and employers in Nevada.

Plaintiffs-Appellants appeal the June 2019 Order granting in part and denying in part Defendants-Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, wherein the District Court held that Plaintiffs-Appellants' NRS 608.016, 608.018, and 608.020-.050 statutory wage claims are subject to a two (2) year limitations period, as opposed to the general three-year limitations period for statutory violations set forth in NRS 11.1930(3)(a). (JA at Vol. 10, pp. 2013-2027.)

Plaintiffs-Appellants also appeal the November 2020 Order granting Defendants-Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, wherein the District Court held: (1) Appellant Martel's continuation wage claims were time barred by a two-year limitations period because he resigned his job and no wage violations took place during his final pay period (JA at Vol. 15, p. 2958); (2) Respondent met its burden of proof that Appellant Jackson-Williams was exempted from statutory overtime pursuant NRS 608.018 because she was subject to a valid collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") that provided overtime benefits beyond those conferred by statute (Id. at pp. 2959-2963); and (3) Appellant Jackson-Williams cannot represent other union employees for unpaid wage claims arising pursuant Nevada statutory law because the union is the exclusive representative of union employees. (Id. pp. 2954-2967.) Because the District Court's November Order appeared to keep active Appellant Jackson-Williams individual MWA and NRS 608.040-.050 continuation wage claims, Plaintiffs-Appellants sought clarification from the District Court.

The District Court's June 21, 2021 Order clarified that the District Court granted summary judgment in favor of Defendants-Respondents and against all Plaintiffs-Appellants on all claims. (JA at Vol. 16, pp. 3125-3131.) The District Court explained that although the two-year statute of limitations established in the District Courts' June 7, 2019 Order (JA at Vol. 10, pp. 2013-2027) and reiterated in

the District Court's November 3, 2020 Order (JA at Vol. 15, pp. 2958-2959) provided that Appellant Jackson-Williams had eighteen (18) months of wage claims that were not time-barred (JA at Vol. 16, p. 3129), Appellant Jackson-Williams' claims for violations of NRS 608.140 and 608.018 were barred because the District Court had held that the CBA provided otherwise for overtime wages. (*Id.*) The District Court further explained, that "[w]hile the Court did find Ms. Jackson-Williams could proceed without undertaking the grievance procedure of the CBA, the Court nevertheless found Ms. Jackson-Williams did not have standing to bring her claims because Plaintiffs did not prove the union as a bargaining agent breached its duty of fair representation in its representation of the employees, barring her claims." (*Id.*)

#### IV. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

- 1. Whether the District Court erred by holding that the CBA in question was valid and exempted Appellant Jackson-Williams from seeking overtime pursuant to NRS 608.018; and
- 2. Whether the District Court erred by holding that Appellant Jackson-Williams could not represent a putative class of union employees for statutory wage and MWA violations on the grounds that the union was the exclusive representative of union employees;
- 3. Whether the District Court erred by holding, by necessary implication in its Clarification Order, that Nevada union employees cannot seek non-overtime wage claims pursuant to the Nevada Minimum Wage Amendment and NRS Chapter 608;

- 4. Whether the District Court erred by holding that statutory wage claims brought pursuant to various provisions of NRS Chapter 608 (none of which contain a specific limitations period) are subject to a two-year statute of limitations, as opposed to the general three-year limitations period for statutory violations that the Nevada Legislature mandated in NRS 11.190(3)(a).
- 5. Whether the District Court erred by holding that the statute of limitations for a claim for continuation wages pursuant to NRS 608.020-.050 begins to run on the last day an employee works even though the wages under that statutory provision do not fully accrue until 30-days after the employment relationship ends;
- 6. Whether the District Court erred by holding that Nevada employees can only seek continuation wages pursuant to NRS 608.020-.050 for alleged wages violations that occur during the last pay period before an employee's separation from employment;
- 7. If the District Court did not err by holding that Nevada employees can only seek continuation wages pursuant to NRS 608.020-.050 for alleged wages violations that occur during the last pay period before an employee's separation from employment, did the District Court nonetheless err by concluding that Appellant Martel did not assert a claim for unpaid wages during his last pay period worked.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of an employment dispute between the Plaintiff-Appellant employees (collectively "Appellants" or "Plaintiffs-Appellants") and the Defendant-Respondent employer HG Staffing, LLC, MEI-GSR Holdings, the Grand Sierra Resort ("Respondents" or "Defendants-Respondents"), regarding alleged unpaid wages. Appellants asserted two (2) general theories for wage liability in the District Court. First, Appellants allege Respondents maintained policies, practices,

and procedures which required employees to perform work activities without compensation—*i.e.*, off-the-clock work. Second, Appellants allege that Respondents did not pay daily overtime pursuant to NRS 608.018 when employees worked over eight (8) hours in a workday, which is defined by Nevada law as a rolling 24-hour period of time. (*See* NRS 608.126.) Pursuant to these two theories, Appellants asserted the following four (4) causes of action pursuant to Nevada's wage-hour laws: (1) Failure to Pay Wages for All Hours Worked in Violation of NRS 608.140 and 608.016; (2) Failure to Pay Minimum Wages in Violation of the Nevada Constitution; (3) Failure to Pay Overtime Wages in Violation of NRS 608.140 and 608.018; and (4) Failure to Timely Pay All Wages Due and Owing Upon Termination Pursuant to NRS 608.140 and 608.020-.050. (First Amended Complaint, the operative complaint at JA at Vol. 5, pp. 906-1060.)

More specifically, Appellants allege that Appellant Jackson-Williams, who was employed as a room attendant/housekeeper, was required to attend pre-shift meetings without pay. Appellants also allege that Appellant Martel, who was employed as an attendant in the Bowling Center, was required to conduct banking activities and attend pre-shift meetings without pay. Appellants also allege that Appellant Martel was not compensated daily overtime when he worked over eight (8) hours in a workday. Appellants allege that Appellant Capilla, who was employed as a dealer, was required to attend pre-shift meetings without pay. And Appellants

allege that Appellant Vaughan, who was employed as a dancing dealer (part cards dealer, part go-go dancer), was required to attend dance/choreography classes without pay.

#### VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. Relevant Procedural Background

On June 14, 2016, Appellants filed a class action complaint against Respondents in the Second Judicial District Court for the State of Nevada for alleged unpaid wages on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated individuals, asserting four Nevada state law wage and hour violations: (1) Failure to Pay Wages for All Hours Worked in Violation of NRS 608.140 and 608.016; (2) Failure to Pay Minimum Wages in Violation of the Nevada Constitution; (3) Failure to Pay Overtime Wages in Violation of NRS 608.140 and 608.018; and, (4) Failure to Timely Pay All Wages Due and Owing Upon Termination Pursuant to NRS 608.140 and 608.020-.050. (Original complaint at JA at Vol. 1, pp. 1-109.)

On July 25, 2016, Respondents removed the case to federal court arguing that Appellants' "claims are preempted by Section 301 of the Labor Relations Management Act ("LRMA") of 1947." (JA at Vol. 8, pp. 1523-1536.) On December 6, 2016, United States District Court Judge Robert Jones issued his order remanding the case back to the District Court rejecting Respondent's assertion that the LRMA preempted Appellants' claims, because the Plaintiffs-Appellants' claims were

created by Nevada state law and were not substantially dependent on the terms of the CBA. Specifically, Judge Jones held that "[a]ll of Plaintiffs' claims arise specifically under Nevada law, independently of any CBA. Plaintiffs' claims are expressly based on NRS 608.016 ...; NRS 608.018 ...; and NRS 608.020-050 ...." (JA, at Vol. 8, pp. 1523-1536, §III.a.) Judge Jones further opined that resolving Plaintiffs-Appellants' claims would not require interpretation of the CBA and that "[m]erely looking to a CBA to calculate the amount of unpaid wages does not trigger Section 301 preemption" for Plaintiffs-Appellants' NRS and MWA claims. (*Id.* at pp. 1532-1533, § III.b.)

On January 1, 2017, Respondents filed their first Motion to Dismiss, which was stayed pending this Court's decision in *Neville v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court in & for Cty. of Clark*, 406 P.3d 499. 504 (Nev. 2017).<sup>2</sup> The stay was lifted on December 27, 2012 and Respondents filed their second Motion to Dismiss on January 22, 2018.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Respondents' first motion to dismiss and the corresponding documents are not included in the Joint Appendix pursuant to NRAP 30(b) because they are not essential to the decision of the issues presented by the appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Respondents' second motion to dismiss and the corresponding documents are not included in the Joint Appendix pursuant to NRAP 30(b) because they are not essential to the decision of the issues presented by the appeal.

On October 9, 2018, the Second Judicial District Court entered its Order Granting Defendants-Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, holding that the Appellants failed to provide sufficient information to support their claims.<sup>4</sup> (JA at Vol. 5, pp. 884-894.) Thereafter, Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's Order Granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss or in the alternative Leave to File an Amended Complaint pursuant to NRCP Rule 60(b). After full briefing, the Court granted Appellants leave to file an amended complaint, on January 9, 2019. (JA at Vol. 5, 895-905.)

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