IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

EDDY MARTEL (also known as MARTEL-RODRIGUEZ), MARY ANNE CAPILLA, JANICE JACKSON-WILLIAMS, and WHITNEY VAUGHAN on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Appellants,

v.

HG STAFFING, LLC and MEI-GSR HOLDINGS LLC d/b/a GRAND SIERRA RESORT,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Oct 11 2021 07:12 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Case No. 82161 Clerk of Supreme Court

District Court Case No. CV16-01264

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

608.016 can be asserted beyond trial or break-in periods, it nonetheless fails because such off the clock work would count as overtime and be exempt pursuant to NRS 608.018(3)(e).

3. <u>By Its Terms, NRS 608.016 Only Applies to Trials or Break-In</u> <u>Periods and Thus Does Not Apply to Jackson-Williams</u>

NRS 608.016 applies only to trials or break-in periods and should not be read

in a vacuum:

NRS 608.016 Payment for each hour of work; trial or break-in period not excepted.

Except as otherwise provided in NRS 608.0195 and 608.215, an employer shall pay to the employee wages for each hour the employee works. An employer shall not require an employee to work without wages during a trial or break-in period.

The text of the statute makes clear that it is intended to prevent employers from forcing employees to work without getting paid during a trial or break-in period. Jackson-Williams was not in a trial or break-in period during her last 8 months of employment at GSR. As such, by its terms NRS 608.016 does not apply to Jackson-Williams.

There is no indication in the language of NRS 608.016 that it was ever meant to be some type of gap-filler for pay in addition to the minimum wage and overtime. NRS 608.016 was passed in 1985 as a curb against unpaid trials or break-in periods which by their very nature would not involve any agreed-upon wages to begin with. To the extent that Jackson-Williams has some argument that NRS 608.016 was meant to cover agreed-upon wages or straight time, it is absurd that the vehicle for such a claim would be NRS 608.016 and that it did not exist for any employees until 1985. This, of course, is nonsensical because an employee, at common law, always had a cause of action – breach of contract or quasi-contract – for unpaid agreed-upon wages outside of minimum wage or overtime. Thus, the application of NRS 608.016 as a 1985 gap-filler cause of action for something other than trial or break-in periods is not supported by the language of the statute or in application.

The legislative history of NRS 608.016 further supports that the statute was meant to only apply to trials or break-in periods. Assembly Committee minutes demonstrate that "Section 9" of AB 127 was proposed in 1985 as a new statute that would become NRS 608.016. *See* Legislative History of Assembly Bill 127 of the 63rd Session of the Nevada Legislature 1985 ("AB 127 Record") at 2, available at https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Library/LegHistory/LHs/1985/AB1 27,1985.pdf. The language of proposed AB 127, Section 9 reads:

Sec. 9. An employer shall pay to the employee wages for each hour the employee works, An employer shall not require an employee to work without wages during a trial or break-in period.

Id.

In the minutes from the Nevada Assembly Committee on Labor and Management's hearing on the bill, Nevada Labor Commissioner Frank MacDonald spoke in favor of AB 127 and presented the Committee with two Attorney General Opinions: (1) <u>Attorney General Opinion No. 566</u>, attached to the minutes as Exhibit A; and (2) an Attorney General's Opinion dated June 8, 1976, attached to the minutes as Exhibit B. *Id.* The Committee explained that Commissioner MacDonald stated that "<u>Sections</u> 6, 7, 8 and <u>9 of the bill called for additional definitions</u> under NRS 608.010, definitions for work day, work week and wages. He stated that these additional explanations <u>will clarify questions which continually arise during the course of investigations into alleged violations of wage and hour provisions of Chapter 608." *Id.* (emphasis added). Thus, in passing NRS 608.016 [AB 127, Section 9], the Nevada Legislature was directly addressing the Nevada Labor Commissioner's request for "additional definitions" to "clarify questions" regarding "alleged violations of... wage and hour provisions of Chapter 608."</u>

In the cited and incorporated Attorney General Opinion No. 566 dated March 3, 1969, the Nevada Attorney General restated the previous Nevada Labor Commissioner's inquiry as to break-in periods without pay: "You have advised this office that certain employers in Nevada are requiring new employees to break in on the job by working for a certain indefinite period without pay. Your question is whether such procedure contravenes the provisions of NRS 608.250 and 609.030." (emphasis added).

After analyzing the language of the then-existing minimum wage statute in NRS 608.250 and the previous female workers' hours statute in NRS 608.030, the

Nevada Attorney General opined:

These sections cover minimum wages to both sexes. An employer is obligated to pay not less than the <u>minimum statutory wages for all hours</u> that he knowingly suffers or permits an employee to work. The agreement of the employee, as a condition of securing the job, <u>that he will work without compensation for a break in period is not voluntary</u>, <u>but coercive</u>, and thus runs afoul of Nevada statutes.

The insecurity of such an arrangement is emphasized by the fact that an employer <u>does not guarantee the employee a gainful employment after</u> <u>the break in period</u>. The employer may, and often does, release the employee at the end of the break in period, thus opening the door to securing another employee on the same terms. It may readily be seen that <u>such procedure could lead to free service by employees ad infinitum</u>.

(emphasis added)

The legislative history clearly shows that NRS 608.016 [AB 127, Section 9] was the Nevada Legislature's codification of the Nevada Attorney General's Opinion that employers should not be able to require "new employees to break in on the job by working for a certain indefinite period without pay." Thus, consistent with the opinion of the Nevada Attorney General, the Nevada Legislature enacted NRS 608.016 to prevent employers from using unpaid break-in periods and releases of unpaid employees to get "free service. . . ad infinitum."

The legislative history indicates that NRS 608.016 was never meant to be a catchall gap filler for straight time. In fact, the only wage mentioned by the Nevada Attorney General is the statutory minimum wage, which evinces that a claim for unpaid break-in period is really a claim for uncompensated minimum wage during that trial or break-in. There is nothing in the legislative history supporting that NRS 608.016 was ever meant to address anything other than unpaid break-in periods, let alone off-the-clock straight time gap claims for violations other than minimum wage and overtime that are duplicative of a breach of contract common law claim. Any such interpretation would require complete rejection of the legislative history and extensive modification to rework the statute with existing minimum wage, overtime, and breach of contract laws.

Accordingly, while the district court found Jackson-Williams did not have standing because she did not prove the union breached its duty of fair representation, Jackson-Williams' claims are nonetheless barred because alleged violations of the MWA and NRS 608.016 are addressed by the CBA exceptions and thus covered by the grievance process. Additionally, NRS 608.016 does not apply to unpaid work outside a trial or break-in period.

4. <u>Claim for Final Paycheck Penalties Is Derivative and Therefore</u> <u>Fails Because Jackson-Williams Has No Surviving Wage Claim</u>

Appellants concede that claims pursuant to NRS 608.020 through 608.050 are derivative penalties for alleged unpaid wages once an employee quits, resigns, or is

discharged, and are not actionable in themselves.¹⁰ Opening Brief at 32 ("derivative claim for continuation wages under NRS 608.020-.050"); Opening Brief at 45 (referring to the Fourth Cause of Action as "the derivative failure to pay all wages due and owing in violation of NRS 608.020-050"); Opening Brief at 55 ("[I]f Appellants are successful on any of their underlying wage claims, Appellant Martel will have a derivative NRS 608.020-.050 continuation wage claim."). In *Turner v. Mandalay Sports Ent., LLC*, this Court explained that when a derivative claim is dependent on the success of an underlying claim and the underlying claim has not been established, the derivative claim "must fail as well." 124 Nev. 213, 222, 180 P.3d 1172, 1178 n.31 (2008) (quoting *Gunlock v. New Frontier Hotel*, 78 Nev. 182, 185 n. 1, 370 P.2d 682, 684 n. 1 (1962)).

Therefore, because Jackson-Williams' underlying claims for minimum wage and all hours worked fail, so does the derivative claim under NRS 608.020 through 608.050.

¹⁰ NRS 608.020 governs wages due upon termination and provides that "[w]henever an employer discharges an employee, the wages and compensation earned and unpaid at the time of such discharge shall become due and payable immediately." NRS 608.030 applies to payment upon resignation, and prescribes a timeframe under which an employer must provide wages and compensation earned and unpaid. NRS 608.040 and NRS 608.050 provide distinct penalties for an employer's failure to pay wages due once an employee quits, resigns, or is discharged.

D. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT APPELLANTS LACK STANDING TO REPRESENT UNION EMPLOYEES WHERE BOTH JACKSON-WILLIAMS AND MARTEL'S WAGE CLAIMS FAIL AND THE CBA EXCEPTION TO THE MINIMUM WAGE AMENDMENT APPLIES AND THE EXCLUSIVE REMEDY IS UNDER THE CBA

The district court correctly held that Jackson-Williams and Martel cannot represent other union members. First, Jackson-Williams and Martel cannot represent a putative class of union employees after their claims have been properly disposed of by the district court.¹¹ Alternatively, if this Court were to find that Appellants have a viable non-overtime and minimum wage claim, they would still lack standing as the current union employees' exclusive remedy would be through the collective bargaining process. Because Appellants cannot allege that the union has breached its duty of fair representation as to the putative class of employees, Appellants lacks standing to represent them. *See* 29 U.S.C. 159(a).

Courts have repeatedly held that in certain circumstances, an employee's right to pursue statutory claims in a judicial forum can be waived by CBA if the waiver is "clear and unmistakable." For example, in *Montgomery v. Compass Airlines, LLC*, 98 F. Supp. 3d 1012 (D. Minn. 2015), the plaintiff employee brought, among other claims, a claim for violation of the Family and Medical Leave Act ("FMLA") against her former employer. *Id.* at 1014. Similar to this case, the employer sought to

¹¹ Sections V(E)-(H) below address Martel's claims.

dismiss the statutory FMLA claim arguing that the employee's claim was subject to mandatory arbitration under the relevant CBA, as the "CBA included a broad arbitration provision for claims arising under the CBA," see id. at 1020, and the CBA contained a separate provision incorporating a statute stating that the employer "will comply with the provisions of the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA)." Id. at 1016. The District of Minnesota granted the employer's motion to dismiss. As part of its reasoning, the court rejected the plaintiff's argument that the CBA did not contain a clear and unmistakable waiver of judicial forum because the "reference to the FMLA is not contained within the same provision as the agreement to arbitrate." *Id.* at 1019. Rather, the court, in quoting the Fourth Circuit, stated that "[f]or a waiver of an employee's right to a judicial forum for statutory . . . claims to be clear and unmistakable, the CBA must, at the very least, identify the specific statutes the agreement purports to incorporate or include an arbitration clause that explicitly refers to statutory claims. It need not do both." Id. at 1018-20 (quoting Carson v. Giant Food, Inc., 175 F.3d 325, 359-60 (4th Cir.1999)) (emphasis added). In so following, the *Montgomery* court held that the CBA clearly and unmistakably mandated arbitration of plaintiff's FMLA claims because the company's CBA included a broad arbitration provision for claims arising under the CBA, and the CBA incorporated the FMLA into one of its other sections. Id.; see also Carson, 175 F.3d at 332 (acknowledging that if another provision of a CBA makes it unmistakably clear that the statutes at issue are part of the agreement, employees will be bound to arbitrate their federal claims even if the arbitration clause is broad and non-specific). While not binding authority on this Court, *Montgomery* is persuasive authority demonstrating why current employees (in addition to Jackson-Williams) are bound by the grievance and arbitration provisions in the CBA and therefore, have waived their right to bring a minimum wage claim in this judicial forum.

Here, as noted above, the Culinary CBA expressly exempted itself from overtime by providing an alternative overtime structure that provided more than what Nevada overtime required. **3 App. 2609.** Further, the CBA excepted out of minimum wage by providing an alternative rate scheme lower than the minimum wage. **13 App. 2632-39.** The CBA also directly addresses issues of "straight time" pay. **13 App. 2609.** The grievance and arbitration provision here makes the CBA grievance the exclusive remedy for violations of these pay provisions. Thus, like in *Montgomery*, the CBA is the exclusive remedy for wage claims.

Furthermore, the cases cited in support of Appellants' contention that they have standing to represent union employees are readily distinguishable. First, Appellants rely on *Lucas v. Bechtel Corp.*, 633 F.2d 757, 758 (9th Cir. 1980) for the proposition that union and non-union members can sue for and on behalf of each other. Opening Brief at 41-42. Preliminarily, in *Lucas* the union and some of its

members filed the complaint, whereas in this case the Union is not a party. *Lucas* was also dealing with a dismissal of a complaint, not a motion for summary judgment where the district court found the CBA's provisions fell within statutory exemption to Nevada's overtime provisions. Indeed, the cases cited in support of the *Lucas* holding deal with whether employees can sue under section 301 of the Labor Management Relations Act, but here Appellants initiated the action in state court and not under the Labor Management Relations Act.

Appellants' reliance on *Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Riley*, 116 Nev. 1143, 1147, 14 P.3d 22, 24 (2000) similarly fails. Opening Brief at 42. In *Riley*, the CBA at issue stated "A grievance shall <u>not</u> include any matter or action taken by the School Trustees, or any of its agents, for which relief is granted by the <u>statutes of Nevada</u>. 116 Nev. 1143, 1148 n.5, 14 P.3d 22, 25 (2000) (emphasis added). Because the plaintiff brought a claim based on his statutory rights as a probationary teacher, his action for declaratory relief was judicially reviewable as it was a matter "for which relief is granted by the <u>statutes of Nevada</u>." As such, the plaintiff's action fell within the exclusion provision of the CBA's definition of a grievance. Notably, the Culinary CBA's grievance produced does not have any such limiting language. To the contrary, the Culinary CBA includes language exempting it from the overtime under NRS 608.018 and the MWA.

Finally, Appellants' citation Wofford v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 78 F.R.D. 460, 489 (N.D. Cal. 1978) is misapplied and taken out of context. Opening Brief at 43. In Wofford, the plaintiffs originally moved for a determination that the actions may be maintained on behalf of a class against both Safeway and the union defendants. Id. at 471. Critically, the plaintiffs conceded three years after the initiation of the litigation that "the relevant collective bargaining agreements ha[d] little or no impact on the challenged policies." Id. at 471. As discussed at length in this Answering Brief, the Culinary CBA specifies amount, method, and timing of payment of wages and overtime. Whether the Wofford court found that in the context of a Title VII case "A rule disqualifying discharged employees from representing current employees as a matter of law would be intolerable" is immaterial to this Court's analysis of statutory wage claims that have been waived under a CBA that addresses amount, method, and timing of payment of wages and overtime. Accordingly, Appellants have not (and cannot) provide any persuasive reasons why this Court should adopt the reasoning of a 1978 United States District Court for the District of Northern California case that concerned alleged Title VII violations, where the plaintiffs conceded the CBA had little or no impact on the challenged policies, to the present matter.

E. STATUTORY WAGE CLAIMS ARE SUBEJCT TO A TWO-YEAR LIMITATIONS PERIOD

1. <u>This Court's En Banc Decision In Perry v. Terrible Herbst, Inc.</u> <u>Mandates The Court Apply The "Most Analogous Statute" In</u> <u>Evaluating A State Wage And Hour Claim With No Express</u> <u>Statute Of Limitations</u>

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